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The Chapel of St Peter-on-the-Wall, built on the ruins of a Roman fort, dates from 

the mid-seventh century and is one of the oldest largely intact churches in England. It 

stands in splendid isolation on the shoreline at the mouth of the Blackwater Estuary in 

Essex, where the land meets and interpenetrates with the sea and the sky. This book 

brings together contributors from across the arts, humanities and social sciences to 

uncover the pre-modern contexts and modern resonances of this medieval building 

and its landscape setting.

The impetus for this collection was the recently published designs for a new nuclear 

power station at Bradwell on Sea, which, if built, would have a significant impact 

on the chapel and its landscape setting. St Peter-on-the-Wall highlights the multiple 

ways in which the chapel and landscape are historically and archaeologically 

significant, while also drawing attention to the modern importance of Bradwell as a 

place of Christian worship, of sanctuary and of cultural production. In analysing the 

significance of the chapel and surrounding landscape over more than a thousand 

years, this collection additionally contributes to wider debates about the relationship 

between space and place, and particularly the interfaces between both medieval and 

modern cultures and also heritage and the natural environment.

Johanna Dale is Research Fellow in the Department of History at UCL, where she 

previously held a British Academy Postdoctoral Fellowship. Her research is focused 

on the political and cultural history of the medieval period and her first book, 

Inauguration and Liturgical Kingship in the Long Twelfth Century, was shortlisted for 

the Royal Historical Society’s Whitfield Prize in 2020. 
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3
Dengie, Ythancæstir and Othona:  
The early medieval landscape context 
of St Peter-on-the-Wall
Stephen Rippon

Introduction

Bede’s account of St Cedd’s foundation of a church at Ythancæstir in 653 
records how it lay on the banks of the River Pant – the Old English (OE) name 
for the Blackwater – but tells us nothing else about the landscape within 
which it lay.1 We know that Ythancæstir, in the later parish of Bradwell on 
Sea, lay at the eastern tip of a long peninsula of dryland that extended far out 
into former saltmarshes on what today is a particularly remote part of the 
Essex coast. In addition to St Peter’s Chapel itself, this landscape is of 
particular interest because of two relatively early Anglo-Saxon charters. The 
first is clearly a forgery that purports to record that King Æthelbert of Kent 
gave Tillingham (immediately south of Bradwell on Sea) to Mellitus, bishop 
of London, in 604x616.2 The second – clearly genuine – charter records that 
a hundred years later King Swæfred of the East Saxons granted 70 cassati 
[hides] in the regio called Deningei to Ingwald, who was bishop of London 
some time between 705 and 745 (the date probably being towards the start 
of that period).3 Together, these charters are the starting point for 
reconstructing the landscape context of Ythancæstir, which appears to have 
been part of an early folk territory covering around 340km2.

The landscape context of Ythancæstir

We can say something about the landscape around Ythancæstir by 
mapping its topography, geology and soils, as well as the results of 
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archaeological surveys.4 These show that the fort of Othona and 
church at Ythancæstir lay close to the eastern end of a long, narrow 
peninsula of sand and gravel overlying London Clay, the eastern end 
of which has been lost to later erosion (Figures 3.1 and 3.2). It is 
reported that when a Second World War bomb fell into the intertidal 
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sand, gravel and brickearth

marshland

probable extent 
of early folk territory

parish boundaries

Domesday hundred

Bradwell-on-Sea

Southminster

Dengie

Tillingham

0 10 km

Chelmer

Crouch

Sandon
 Valley

Blackwater Estuary Ythancaestir

Danbury
   Hills

Dengie Peninsula

East Anglia

Middle Anglia

East Saxons

A

B

0 50 km

boundary zones between the 
East Saxon and East Anglian 
kingdoms, and peoples of 
the Middle Anglian region

early folk territory

100’     “

200’     “

300’     “

400’ contour

Figure 3.1  (Top) the Anglo-Saxon kingdoms of eastern England and the 
boundary zones between them, with the possible early folk territories 
within the East Saxon kingdom (after Rippon 2018a); and (bottom) the 
postulated boundaries of the regio called Deningei and its major geology/
soil types, with places referred to in the early part of this chapter. Drawn 
by the author.
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mud a quarter of a mile east of the fort, the crater revealed a solid 
mass of masonry which was regarded as Roman. This structure lies too 
far east to have been the eastern wall of the fort, and it has been 
suggested that it was a harbour-related structure.5 Kevin Bruce, 
however, suggests (personal communication) that it could be material 
tipped there during the construction of a new sea wall. The contractors 
apparently approached Oxley Parker – the owner of Eastlands Farm – 
for permission to dig soil from his land around St Peter’s Chapel, and 
this is what led to the discovery of the Roman fort and Oxley Parker’s 
subsequent excavations. The reclamation scheme was abandoned, but 

Othona

Sales Point
(fish traps)

St Peter’s 
chapel ?Roman 

masonry

possible Romano-British/
early medieval coastline

current coastline

wetland edge

current marshland

former tidal creek

Romano-British ‘red hill’ 
(saltern, after Fawn et al. 1990)

0 2 km

Figure 3.2  The landscape context of Othona and Ythancæstir. Drawn by 
the author.
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this may explain why the Ordnance Survey first-edition six-inch maps 
of the 1880s show an east–west linear spread of debris at this location 
called Tip Head.

The peninsula was surrounded by intertidal saltmarshes and 
mudflats, with substantial tidal creeks both to the north (between East 
Hall and Weymarks Farm) and directly south of the fort at Othona, which 
could have provided sheltered landing places for small boats.6 These 
wetlands either side of the peninsula could not have been cultivated – as 
they would have been regularly flooded by the sea – but will have afforded 
rich grazing land and the opportunity to extract salt from seawater, while 
areas lower down the intertidal zone provided the ideal environment for 
the construction of fish-traps (see below).

The derivation of the name Ythancæstir is well known, the OE Ythan 
being derived from the Roman Othona with the OE cæster being a 
common suffix used for Roman sites.7 Othona, however, ‘is a very 
problematic name’,8 although Breeze has recently suggested that Oth- 
may be a corruption of oct-, derived from the British oeth, which means 
‘what is difficult to achieve or obtain; something that is hard to find’; if 
this were extended to ‘a place hard to reach’ then it fits the seventh-
century experience of the location of Othona/Ythancæstir perfectly, as 
that was a period when virtually all travel will have been on foot.9

The wider context of Ythancæstir: the East Saxon 
kingdom and its regiones

The context of Cedd’s foundation of a church at Ythancæstir was an East 
Saxon kingdom that first converted to Christianity under King Sæbert in 
604 (when London was chosen as the location for Bishop Mellitus’s 
church of St Paul), but which then apostatised in 616–17, when Sæbert 
died and his three sons expelled Mellitus.10 In 653 the East Saxon King 
Sigebert appointed Cedd as bishop, who, Bede tells us, ‘established 
churches in several places’, especially in the city called Ythancæstir and 
also Tilaburg (Tilbury, on the north bank of the Thames).11 While Cedd 
was bishop of the East Saxons he often revisited his home kingdom of 
Northumbria, where he founded a church at Lastingham in Yorkshire, 
where he died of the plague in 664.12 Bede tells us that when the brothers 
of Cedd’s monastery in the kingdom of the East Saxons heard that their 
founder had died and been buried in Northumbria, about 30 of them  
left their monastery and went to Lastingham, where they too died of 
plague. Note that Bede does not actually say which of Cedd’s churches the 
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30 brethren came from, or that the entire community of that unnamed 
church left for Lastingham (an important point when considering whether 
Ythancæstir was deserted in 664: see below).

The extent of the East Saxon kingdom is far from clear, but based 
upon a wide range of archaeological and documentary evidence it 
appears to have embraced the later counties of Essex, Middlesex, southern 
Suffolk and most of Hertfordshire (Figure 3.1).13 It was bounded by  
water on two sides – the North Sea to the east, and the Thames Estuary  
to the south – and had extensively wooded high ground to the west  
(the Chiltern Hills) and north (the high Boulder Clay plateau of north-
west Essex and south-west Suffolk). Charters such as King Swæfred’s gift 
of 70 cassati in the regio called Deningei show how Anglo-Saxon kingdoms 
were divided up into smaller districts sometimes referred to as regiones or 
pagi. In 704x709, for example, King Offa of the East Saxons granted 
Wealdhere, bishop of London, land in the pagus of Hæmele (Hemel 
Hempstead, in the Vale of St Albans, Hertfordshire: S.1784).14 Pagus was 
a term used in the Roman period to refer to small districts (within larger 
administrative regions known as civitates), of which there is a single 
documented example from Roman Britain: a wooden writing tablet from 
London referring to an area of woodland in ‘the pagus Dibussu in the 
civitas of the Cantiaci’.15

These regiones were folk-based territories as is reflected in the 
small number of examples where we know their original names. The 
pagus of Hæmele, for example, is derived from the Old English district 
name hamol, ‘the broken country’,16 while the two other East Saxon 
early folk territory names for which we have contemporary references 
contain place names containing ingas: the regiones of Deningei and 
Geddinges (Yeading, in Middlesex).17 Of the 22 early folk territories that 
can be reconstructed in the East Saxon kingdom fifteen have evidence 
in later sources for folk names containing -ingas (such as the Rodings), 
while another has a cluster of place names that include the personal 
name element Tolla.18

In a seminal study Steven Bassett attempted to reconstruct one of 
these districts whose name survives in the group of eight parishes and 
sixteen Domesday manors named Roding (OE Rodinges, derived from 
OE personal name Hro⁻tha + ingas, giving *Hro⁻thingas, ‘the people of 
Hrotha’).19 Bassett skilfully used a wide range of documentary sources 
to show how these parishes once formed a single early medieval 
territory, but he made a mistake in assuming that its extent was limited 
to that group of parishes. In contrast, a study of the wider landscape 
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that looked beyond the cluster of Roding place names reveals a web of 
territorial connections that extended well to the south and embraced 
the whole river valley. The result is an early folk territory covering in the 
region of 285km2 that was bounded by interfluvial areas with poorly 
drained soils that as late as the eighteenth century included large areas 
of unenclosed common land.20

Across the East Saxon kingdom, the 22 early folk territories that 
can be reconstructed have an average area of around 350km2 (the 
range being 104–692km2).21 This suggests that in the average-sized 
early folk territory most people will have lived no more than around 
20 km (12 miles) from its central point. Although it is difficult to know 
how far someone in the past could have travelled in a day – due to 
variations in topography, road conditions, what they were carrying 
and whether they were on foot, on horseback or accompanied by a 
packhorse, ox- or horse-drawn cart – various strands of evidence 
suggest a figure of c. 20km. The Antonine Itinerary, for example, 
suggests that many Romano-British mansiones – official buildings 
whose roles included providing overnight accommodation for Imperial 
officials – were around 12 to 15 Roman miles apart (18–22km), 
although they will have been linked by well-made roads that were 
relatively easy to walk on.22 In the nineteenth century it was said that 
people would travel up to 6 or 7 miles to get to a market town in a day 
(in other words, a round trip of 12–14 miles [19–23km]).23 It seems 
likely, therefore, that in an average-sized early folk territory of around 
350km2 most people could have walked to a communal gathering at 
the centre of the territory in one day, although not all would have been 
able to go home the same day.

Reconstructing the regio of Deningei 

Reconstructing the extent of the regio of Deningei (Figure 3.3) involves 
the integration of a wide range of sources within a spatial framework 
provided by historical maps. We do not know how large the regio was, 
although it was clearly greater than the 70 cassati that King Swæfred 
of the East Saxons granted to Ingwald in the early eighth century. The 
name Deningei is formed from the OE personal name Dæni and the 
place-name element ēġ (‘island’) suggesting that it meant ‘the island 
named after Dæni’.24 Deningei must have referred to the peninsula of 
land – which went on to become Dengie Hundred – that was 
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surrounded by water on three sides, with the Blackwater Estuary to 
the north, the North Sea to the east and the Crouch Estuary to the 
south. To the west (in Chelmsford Hundred) lay the high ground of 
Danbury, whose place name also includes the OE personal name Dæni. 
The earliest form of Danbury is its spelling in Domesday Book – 
Danengeberiam – which is derived from Dæni + ingas (giving the OE folk 
name Dænningas) and OE byriġ (burh, meaning a defended enclosure, 
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Figure 3.3  Evidence used in reconstructing the extent of the regio of 
Deningei. Drawn by the author.
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here referring to an Iron Age hill fort), giving ‘the stronghold occupied 
by the Dænningas’.25 In the thirteenth century the Danbury Hills  
were known as the forest of Danegris, derived from Dænningas + OE 
hrīs (shrubs, brushwood).26 Taken altogether, this group of closely 
related place names suggest that the regio (district) called Deningei 
corresponded to the modern Dengie Peninsula at least as far west  
as the Danbury Hills (the forest of Danegris), was named after 
someone called Dæni, and was occupied by a community known as the 
Dænningas.

Although this area was known as the Danesie, Denegeia and finally 
Dengie Hundred from the late twelfth century, in Domesday it was 
described as Witbrictesherna Hundred. This may be derived from the OE 
personal name Wihtbeorht + -hyrne, hence ‘Wihtbeorht’s corner’, 
although Anderson suggests the second part is derived from the OE 
-þyrne (hence ‘Wihtbeorht’s thorn bush’).27 Presumably, the late twelfth-
century name was a reversion to its pre-Domesday form. In addition to 
the personal name Dæni, commemorated in the names of the regio and 
Danbury, a complex web of territorial links connected the lowlands of the 
Dengie Peninsula with both the coastal marshland to the east and the 
wooded heaths to the west (Figure 3.3). Asheldham, Dengie, Mayland 
and St Lawrence parishes, as well as Stansgate manor in Steeple,28 and 
Bacons manor in Bradwell,29 all had detached parcels down on the coastal 
marshes. Looking westwards, Purleigh had several detached parcels up 
on the Danbury Hills (including Gibcracks). These detached parochial 
parcels presumably resulted from the dividing up of what had been 
common land, with each community holding rights in the common 
receiving a parcel of land following its enclosure. Domesday Book makes 
an oblique reference to this intercommoning of the coastal marshes 
through a unique feature of the Essex folios: inclusion of ‘pasture  
for X sheep’.30 The extent of these pastures must have been vast, as 
Southminster, for example, had ‘pasture for 1,300 sheep’.31 It is curious 
that several manors in eastern parts of the Dengie Peninsula had 
‘woodland for pigs’ (Table 3.1). It seems highly unlikely that there was 
extensive woodland on the light, easily cultivated soils of Bradwell on  
Sea – an area that was almost devoid of woodland by 1777 – and it is 
tempting to see this ‘woodland for pigs’ as lying up on the Danbury Hills 
(a remnant of when lowland parishes held grazing rights in the communal 
wood-pasture there). 

Another feature of the landscape suggesting that the various 
parishes within the Dengie Peninsula were once part of a single 
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territory is the way that their boundaries zigzag through fields, 
suggesting that they were created after the fieldscape. This is in sharp 
contrast to the long, sinuous watershed boundaries that mark the 
postulated southern and western edges of the regio of Deningei (see 
below) as well as other early folk territories such as the Rodings (see 
above). The western boundary of Dengie/Witbrictesherna Hundred – 
which lay to the east of the Danbury Hills – also zigzags through the 
historic landscape, and in some places even cuts diagonally across 
fields in a way that suggests it was a relatively recent creation.32 The 
hundred boundary also divides a group of parishes called Woodham, 
while another curiosity is the way that lowland Purleigh (in Dengie 
Hundred) had detached parcels up on the Danbury Hills (in the 
neighbouring Chelmsford Hundred). Along with the sharing of the 
personal name Dæni in Deningei and Danbury, this clearly establishes 
that the regio of Deningei extended at least as far as the Danbury Hills 
(embracing part of what in Domesday had become Chelmsford 
Hundred).

In addition to thirteenth- to sixteenth-century references to the 
‘forest of Danegris’,33 there are various indications that the Danbury 
Hills were covered in extensive woodland, wood pasture and heathland. 
The 1777 map of Essex, for example, shows extensive woodland and 
unenclosed common stretching across the Danbury Hills from Woodham 
Walter, in the north, through Danbury, Woodham Mortimer, Hazeleigh 
and Purleigh to Woodham Ferris, to the south. To this concentration of 
woodland-related place names can be added the OE lēah in Rugley 
Green in Purleigh, Colickey Green in Woodham Walter [Curlai in 
Domesday] and Studly in Woodham Ferris [Estolleia in Domesday]. The 
OE wuda in these Woodham parish names is clearly associated with 
woodland. Wudaham is documented in two charters of 962x991 and 
1000x1002,34 and the three vills in Domesday are simply called Odeham/
Udeham/Wdeham.35 Birchwood Farm in Purleigh was probably the 
home of Saier atte Birchwode in 1342,36 birch being a typical heathland 
tree in this region. The name Gibcrack – one of the detached parcels of 
Purleigh, which lies immediately west of Bicknacre and Danbury 
Commons – suggests a ‘flimsily built house’37 as might be expected in a 
woodland assart.

The earliest maps showing the field boundary patterns across this 
entire area date to the nineteenth century, by which time some areas that 
had been common in 1777 were enclosed, with the resulting field 
boundaries being characterised by long straight lines and exact right-
angled corners. Other areas with these carefully planned field boundary 
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patterns are probably former commons enclosed in the seventeenth and 
eighteenth centuries. Even today, the Danbury Hills are cloaked with 
extensive areas of woodland, wood pasture and heathland, and this 
makes them a prominent feature looming up above the surrounding low-
lying claylands.

The south-western limit of the regio of Deningei probably lay along 
a remarkably long, sinuous field boundary between Rettendon and 
Runwell that clearly pre-dates the adjacent fields. (Rettendon also has a 
detached parcel between East Hanningfield and Woodham Ferrers to the 
north.) Although Kemble made a case for the western limit of the regio  
of Deningei running across the Danbury Hills, there are a number of 
territorial links that extend across the Danbury Hills and down into the 
Sandon Valley.38 Purleigh, to the east of the Danbury Hills, for example, 
had a large detached parcel in Sandon, while Danbury parish – whose 
church lay up on the Danbury Hills – extended across the Sandon Brook 
as far as the River Chelmer (and this large detached parcel divided Little 
Baddow from Great Baddow).

The Sandon Valley contained seven parishes: Little Baddow, Great 
Baddow, Sandon and Danbury, as well as East, South and West Hanningfield. 
The place name Hanningfield – ‘open country of the Haningas, the people 
called after Hana’39 – is consciously drawing a very sharp contrast with the 
woodland-dominated Danbury Hills to the east. The boundaries between 
these Sandon Valley parishes all zigzag through the historic landscape and 
are clearly relatively recent, while the way that Great and Little Baddow are 
separated by Danbury also suggests these parishes were all once part of the 
same territory. In contrast to the zigzagging boundaries within this block of 
parishes, the western edges of Great Baddow, West Hanningfield and South 
Hanningfield follow a long, sinuous, watershed boundary that runs along a 
range of hills south of Chelmsford. These hills represent some of the highest 
ground in southern Essex, which in 1777 was still relatively well wooded 
and partly unenclosed.40

The high ground marking the southern watershed of the Sandon 
Valley was also covered by a series of commons in 1777.41 There were also 
stretches of long, sinuous parish boundary that appear to be relatively 
early features within the landscape, including the southern boundary  
of East Hanningfield that ran along the edge of Rettendon Great and  
Little Commons. Where other parish boundaries zigzag through the 
landscape it is because they post-date the enclosure of former commons 
(for example, the southern edge of South Hanningfield). As late as 1777 
these hills were also more wooded than the adjacent lower-lying areas, 
and an analysis of the field boundary patterns suggests that there was 



ST PETER-ON-THE-WALL90

once an almost continuous belt of unenclosed common and woodland 
stretching from the Danbury Hills across the high ground south of the 
Hanningfields and then over the hills south of Chelmsford. Overall, while 
the Sandon Valley was a compact and clearly defined territory – probably 
occupied by a group identifying themselves as the Haningas – it appears 
to have been part of the regio of the Deningei. This gives an early folk 
territory of around 340km2, making it very close to the average for the 
East Saxon kingdom.

Central places within the landscape

Across the East Saxon kingdom, early folk territories contained places 
with central place functions such as a royal vill, early church and 
communal meeting place. The development of towns from the tenth 
century onwards saw these central place functions consolidated into 
single places, before which they were often in separate locations.42 The 
only excavated royal vill in the East Saxon kingdom is at Bonhunt Farm in 
Wicken Bonhunt.43 This was part of a polyfocal cluster of central places in 
the Granta Valley with the meeting place of Uttlesford Hundred being at 
Mutlow Hill overlooking ‘Uda’s ford’ (now Uttlesford Bridge, in Wendens 
Ambo), 3km north of Bonhunt Farm.44 Nearby Newport – the ‘new town’, 
1km north-east of Bonhunt Farm – was a royal manor in Domesday that 
paid two knights’ service.45 Although Newport was once thought to have 
been the Edwardian burh of Wiginamere, this has now been rejected,46 but 
it may have been Edward the Confessor’s mint of Nipeport.47 Although the 
present structure of Newport church is thirteenth-century, its cruciform 
plan is suggestive of an early medieval minster,48 and a fragment of Late 
Anglo-Saxon cross-shaft was reused in the north aisle.49 A thirteenth-
century judgement stated that the chapel at Wicken Bonhunt formerly 
belonged to the church at Newport.50 Overall, there appears to have been 
a polyfocal royal centre whose various functions were spread across 
Wicken Bonhunt (the royal vill), Wendens Ambo (the assembly place) 
and Newport (the minster, and later market town and mint), which were 
all within 3km of each other. 

In the case of the regio of Deningei, however, it is difficult to identify 
either the royal vill or the communal meeting place. The only royal 
landholdings in Witbrictesherna Hundred at the time of Domesday  
Book were several small parcels of land, not all of which had been  
held by the king in 1066.51 There was probably an early church at 
Southminster – presumably so named in relation to the church at 
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Bradwell to the north – which in Domesday was held by the bishop of 
London: at 30 hides this was a sizeable estate,52 but there is no evidence 
for a royal vill there.

One contender for an early medieval central place is Maldon. The 
Half Hundred of Maldon consisted simply of Maldon itself, where 
Domesday records that the king had a hall, 180 houses held by burgesses 
and 18 that were derelict.53 The configuration of the boundaries of 
Maldon Half Hundred and the wider historic landscape suggests that it 
was carved out of Dengie Hundred, and in Domesday two freemen in 
Maldon are described as being in Dengie Hundred.54 In 1056 Edward the 
Confessor’s chaplain Ingelric granted the church at Maldon (with two 
hides of land and their tithes) to the church at St Martin le Grand (in 
London), and a land-holding of this size is suggestive of a minster.55 This 
importance of Maldon could, however, be no older than the early tenth 
century. King Edward the Elder camped there in 912 as part of his 
reconquest of Essex from the Danes, and then ordered the construction of 
a burh in 916. The location of the temporary camp and later burh has seen 
much discussion, but both appear to lie on the high ground to the west of 
the later medieval town.56 This was a strategic location, at the head of the 
Blackwater Estuary and mouth of the River Chelmer. 

The question is whether the early tenth-century burh was founded 
close to an existing royal vill. There certainly is some evidence for a high-
status settlement in the eighth century on the lower ground at the head 
of the Blackwater Estuary. Ipswich Ware has been found in various places, 
with stratified Middle Saxon occupation excavated at the former Croxley 
Works on Church Street in an area known as the Hythe, on the banks  
of the Blackwater Estuary just north of St Mary’s Church.57 The presence 
of Ipswich Ware – an extremely rare find in Essex – suggests a site of 
relatively high status, while other finds suggest textile production and 
iron smithing. Although very little metalwork has been found in the  
area – a single Series S sceatta (a silver penny) of East Saxon manufacture 
from Maldon itself, and a Series D sceatta from nearby Heybridge58 – this 
can be accounted for by extensive urban development leading to few 
opportunities for metal detecting. Overall, it would appear that Maldon 
was an important coastal settlement in the eighth century, and the way in 
which it was chosen as Edward the Elder’s camp in 912 might suggest an 
existing royal vill, as does the way that it was subsequently developed as 
a burh and town.

Another possibility, however, is that the royal vill within the regio of 
Deningei was closer to Ythancæstir, which was just 7½km north-east of 
the parish of Dengie, which is assumed to have been the hundred meeting 
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place.59 That Ythancæstir housed priests who ministered to the wider 
community, as well as contemplative monks, is suggested by Bede’s 
statement that Bishop Cedd:

established churches in various places and ordained priests and 
deacons to assist him in preaching the word of faith and in the 
administration of baptism, especially in the city called Ythancæstir 
in the Saxon tongue and also in the place called Tilbury … In these 
places he gathered together a multitude of Christ’s servants [in 
other words, monks] and taught them to observe the discipline of  
a Rule.60

It is easy to assume that the apparently remote location of Ythancæstir – 
about as far from the geographical centre of the regio as it was possible to 
go – makes it an unlikely location for a minster church let alone a royal 
vill, but this need not have been the case. It is in fact very common for 
early churches to have been located in places that were relatively remote 
from where the vast majority of the population – who will have been 
subsistence-level farmers – lived, including coastal locations and 
peninsulas within wetlands.61 There are various reasons why so many 
early churches were located in such geographically marginal places. The 
first is that there was a strong desire to place early churches within sites 
associated with Britain’s Roman – and therefore Christian – past (in this 
case the ruins of the late Roman fort of Othona that Bede refers to as  
a civitas, or ‘city’).62 This link with Romanitas is seen, for example, at  
St Augustine’s Church, which was built immediately outside the Roman 
walls of Canterbury, and Mellitus’s church, which was constructed within 
the ruins of the former Roman town at London. St Augustine’s Church at 
Canterbury – dedicated to Sts Peter and Paul – was the first of three early 
seventh-century churches built there in a line, an arrangement that may 
reflect that seen at Old St Peter’s in Rome (this layout being another link 
with Romanitas).63 The reuse of geographically remote Roman forts was 
also common practice.64 King Sigebert of East Anglia, for example, gave 
Dommoc (probably the Roman coastal fort at Walton65) to Felix, and the 
same king gave Cnobheresburg (probably the coastal fort at Burgh Castle) 
to Fursa, both in the 630s. King Ecgberht of Kent gifted Reculver to Bassa 
in 669.66 This desire on the part of the early Church and Anglo-Saxon 
kings to connect with Romanitas is also seen in the use of sophisticated 
grid-based planning in many early churches and the reuse of Roman 
building material.67
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While Ythancæstir is in a very remote location in terms of how we 
lead our current lives, we should also remember that, in a time when 
roads will have been little more than muddy tracks, a location on the 
coast may have meant that it was potentially more accessible for the 
higher echelons of society who had access to ships. The medieval period 
has generally been seen as a period when relatively little use was made 
of water for transport;68 however, it has been shown that there was 
rather more innovation in the period 950–1250 than previously thought. 
Before the tenth century we have little information as to the extent to 
which people moved around by boat.69 Graveney (grafon eah: ‘ditch 
stream or ‘dug river’), on the northern coast of Kent, is first mentioned 
in a charter dated 812 and hints that improvements were being  
made to the navigability of waterways.70 It is striking that in addition  
to the major eighth-century coastal/estuarine emporia – including 
Southampton, London and Ipswich – there were a number of smaller 
landing places where eighth-century coinage and pottery imported 
from outside of the East Saxon Kingdom has been found (for example, 
Barking, Tilbury and Canvey Island in the Thames Estuary, and 
Fingringhoe on the Colne Estuary).71 There are also several Old English 
place-name elements indicative of the use of inland waterways,72 
although it is unclear whether these places existed in the seventh 
century. All in all, while Ythancæstir certainly was in a very remote 
location from the perspective of the vast majority of the population 
living within its regio – who lived inland, well away from navigable 
watercourses, and will not have had the wealth to access seagoing 
vessels – for the elite within society it was much easier to reach.

So, could a royal vill have lain somewhere in the vicinity of 
Ythancæstir and the presumed later hundredal meeting place at nearby 
Dengie? Dengie parish lay within an area of light, sandy soil at the eastern 
end of the Dengie Peninsula that will have been easier to cultivate than the 
heavy London Clay further west (Figure 3.1). These light, sandy soils 
extended from Bradwell on Sea in the north through Tillingham, Dengie 
and Southminster to Burnham-on-Crouch in the south, and this good 
agricultural land would have been an obvious choice for a royal vill even 
though it was not centrally located within the regio. With the church at 
Ythancæstir and the probable hundredal meeting place at Dengie, the 
obvious location for a royal vill is Tillingham, midway between them, 
which is the name given in the forged charter of 604x616; Tillingham was 
still an episcopal manor in Domesday. Although the distance between 
Tillingham and Ythancæstir (6km) is further than that between the royal 
vill at Wicken and the church at Newport, it was comparable to the 
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distance between the minster at Great Wakering, the presumed royal vill 
at Prittlewell, and the hundred meeting place at Rochford (c. 7–8km) in 
the Rochford peninsula early folk territory immediately south of Deningei.73

The Tillingham estate and fragmentation of  
the regio called Deningei

From the late seventh century onwards early folk territories such as Deningei 
started to fragment as increasingly powerful Anglo-Saxon kings created 
discrete estates and gifted them to the Church. The charter purporting to 
record the grant of ‘Tillingham’ by King Æthelbert of Kent to Mellitus, bishop 
of London between 604 and 616,74 is clearly a forgery for three reasons: the 
tradition of writing such documents did not start until the late seventh 
century; Tillingham was not within the kingdom of Kent; and the witness list 
is late seventh-century.75 It may have been written to explain how the Dean 
and Chapter of St Paul’s came to hold Tillingham, and reflects Bede’s account 
of how King Æthelbert of Kent founded Mellitus’s church in London and 
bestowed gifts of land upon it for the maintenance of the bishop’s household.76 
We know that St Paul’s held Tillingham in c. 1000, when Bishop Theodred 
granted it to the church of St Paul’s, which still held it at Domesday.77 It is, 
however, unclear whether the estate was already the property of St Paul’s and 
had been held by Theodred ex officio, or was his personal property.78

Rather than King Æthelbert of Kent giving Tillingham to St Paul’s in 
604, it is possible that it was included in King Swæfred’s grant of 70 cassati in 
the regio called Deningei to Bishop Ingwald in the early eighth century. The 
block of parishes in the north-eastern part of the Dengie Peninsula – to the 
west of Mayland Creek and north of Asheldham Brook – would appear to 
have once been a single territory. This is reflected in the way that Steeple had 
two detached parcels in the neighbouring parish of St Lawrence (which were 
part of Stansgate manor), and Asheldham had a detached parcel in Steeple. 
The total Domesday hidage for all of these Domesday landholdings is  
80 hides and 50 acres (Table 3.1; Figure 3.4).79 

To the south we can be confident that there was a separate estate, as 
the bishop of London held Southminster – while the Dean and Chapter held 
Tillingham – from at least c. 1000,80 which in Domesday was assessed as  
30 hides.81 While it is tempting to assume that St Paul’s initial endowment in 
Dengie included Southminster,82 and we should not take the 70 cassati as 
being a very precise measure, it is strange that there are no earlier charters 
referring to Southminster. Including both Steeple and the 30 hides of 
Southminster in the 70 cassati in Deningei would bring its assessment in 
Domesday up to 108 hides, which is far too high. It is therefore suggested 
here that Southminster was not part of the 70 cassati in the regio called 
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Deningei, and that St Paul’s held two ancient estates in the Dengie Peninsula: 
70 cassati at Tillingham (including Ythancæstir, which – although not named 
as such in contemporary sources – was the ‘north minster’), and another 
30-or-more-hide estate at Southminster. 

Seventh-century and later life at Ythancæstir

Soon after he founded the church at Ythancæstir Cedd left to establish a 
monastery at Lastingham in Northumbria, where he died in 664.83 
Mirrington has argued that 664 marks the abandonment of the monastery 
at Ythancæstir,84 but this is not necessarily the case as the 30 or so brethren 
that left were not necessarily the entire community, and they could have 
included members of Cedd’s other monastery at Tilbury.

There are, in fact, various strands of evidence suggesting that some 
form of occupation continued at Ythancæstir. Sherds of at least two 
Ipswich Ware vessels from a midden deposit in the upper fill of the fort 
ditch point to occupation in the eighth century,85 since Blinkhorn now 
argues that its production started c. 720.86 Half an Ipswich Ware jar was 
also found by Kevin Bruce wedged against one of the posts of the east wall 
of Sales Point fish trap in the 1970s. Ipswich Ware is extremely rare in 
Essex, being largely restricted to high-status sites such as Barking Abbey, 
the royal vill at Wicken Bonhunt and the coastal settlement at Maldon. 
More recent excavations to the north of the Roman fort – at the Othona 
Community site – produced four sherds of sand-tempered pottery that 
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Figure 3.4  The possible extent of the 70 cassati in the regio called 
Deningei that King Swæfred of the East Saxons granted to Ingwald, Bishop 
of London in ad 706x709 (S. 1787). Drawn by the author.
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can only be dated as fifth- to ninth-century, and two sherds of shell-
tempered ware that are probably tenth-century.87 The collection of 
artefacts from excavations at Othona in 1864–5 by J. Oxley Parker 
included various finds accessioned into Colchester Museum as ‘Saxon’.88 
These include two styli (one bronze, the other iron) and a circular  
bronze reliquary mount framing a cross and inlaid with millefiori, which 
are undated but which are exactly the sort of artefacts we would expect 
to be associated with an early medieval church.89 Crucially, three ninth-
century strap-ends, one with Trewhiddle style plant ornament,90 and  

0 1 km

Othona

Sales Point

 fish trap

Sales

Point

Figure 3.5  The eighth-century fish weir at Sales Point, near Othona, in 
the Blackwater Estuary, and reconstruction drawing by Nick Nethercoat. 
Aerial photos © Kevin Bruce; reconstruction © Essex County Council.
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a small group of coins (discussed below) point to occupation of the  
site after 664.

Another strand of evidence that the monastery at Othona – or at 
least some form of settlement there – continued into the eighth and ninth 
centuries is the intertidal fish weir constructed off the coast at Sales Point 
(Figure 3.5).91 Four radiocarbon determinations suggest that the earliest 
phase of use was in the mid-seventh to eighth centuries, and that the 
weirs were maintained into the ninth century.92

There is also numismatic evidence that occupation at Ythancæstir 
continued in some form into the eighth and ninth centuries, although 
some confusion has been created over the size of this coin assemblage. 
There are four sources of information on the early medieval coins  
found in and around Ythancæstir (Table 3.2). Colchester Museum’s 
accession records of the Oxley Parker collection refer to seven Anglo-
Saxon coins. Two can be identified from their descriptions: a ‘silver sceatta 
on which one side depicts a mythical winged creature, the other an 
anthropomorphic spiral design’ is probably Series S, and the ‘silver sceatta 
depicting a saint or other figure flanked by crosses’ is probably a Series U. 
Two others are listed as having dates in the first half of the eighth century, 
while another is described as a sceatta on which ‘one side bears early 
crosses’. The remaining two are described as ‘penny or sceattas’ and are 
presumably the coins of King Coenwulf of (796–821) and King Æthelwulf 
of Wessex (839–56) that are described in a contemporary account of the 
excavations but are now lost.93

The ‘Corpus of Early Medieval Coin Finds’ (EMC) lists two silver 
sceattas of Series E (found in 1865) and S (found by 1986).94 The Portable 
Antiquities Scheme Database95 contains two coins: a silver sceatta of 
Series N (c. 710–60; PAS ESS-B5EB76) and a bronze styca of Æethelred 
II of Northumbria (c. 858–62: PAS ESS-B5A2F7): as these are recorded as 
having been found in 2001 and 2000 respectively, they are clearly 
different from the coins in Colchester Museum and the EMC. As the EMC’s 
Series S sceatta is probably the one in Colchester Museum, we know of 
nine identifiable coins from Ythancæstir: one continental issue of  
c. 695–c. 740 (Series E), five ‘secondary sceattas dating to c. 710–60 
(Series N; Series S; Series U; and two other sceattas in the Oxley Parker 
Collection dated in the catalogue to this period); and three later pennies 
(King Coenwulf, 796–821; King Æthelwulf of Wessex, 839–56; King 
Æthelred II, c. 858–62).

A far more problematic source is a thesis by Alexander Mirrington, 
whose Graphs 12 and 13 suggest there are 14 coins from Bradwell on Sea 
parish.96 His acknowledgements reference the use of Historic Environment 
Records (HERs), the Corpus of Early Medieval Coins, and the Portable 
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Antiquities Scheme (PAS), but crucially he does not provide a list of the 
coins with their primary database numbers (and only six are referred to 
in the text of the thesis). Graph 12 simply shows there being three coins 
from 650–99, seven from 700–49, three from 800–49 and one from 
850–99. Graph 13 says that there are two Series B and one Series C 
[presumably the three coins from 650–99], two Series E, one Series L/N, 
one Series N, two Series S and one Series U [presumably the seven coins 
from 700–49], pennies of Coenwulf (796–821) and Æthelwulf (839–56) 
[two of the three coins dating to 800–49] and a styca of Æthelred [the one 
from 850–99].

Four of these coins can be accounted for in the specimens in the 
Colchester Museum Collection, EMC and PAS,97 while the pennies of 
Coenwulf (796–821) and Æthelwulf (839–56) are described in a 
contemporary account of the excavations (see above). This leaves six 
sceattas that cannot be accounted for in any other sources (three Series B,98  
one Series C, one Series L/N, one Series S). It is striking that this list of 
sceattas is identical to a group in the EMC said to have been found in 
Southminster in 1980–5 – along with a Merovingian gold tremissis (EMC 
1986.0201-0207) – which raises the possibility that Mirrington has 
erroneously attributed this ‘Southminster’ group to Bradwell on Sea. In 
fact, David Andrews (personal communication) reports Joe Bispham – 
who was the author of the entry in the British Numismatic Journal 
registering the coins found at ‘Southminster’ – has been able to contact two 
of the people who found them, and the Merovingian tremissis and the class 
C sceatta were actually found at Asheldham. We are still left, however, with 
the question of where the other ‘Southminster’ coins came from!

Overall, we must reject Mirrington’s listing of 14 early medieval 
coins, leaving the seven identifiable coins from Ythancæstir – one 
continental issue of c. 695–c. 740 (Series E), five ‘secondary sceattas 
dating to c. 710–60 (Series N, Series S, Series U, and two other sceattas 
in the Oxley Parker Collection dated in the catalogue to this period) and 
the ‘styca’ of Æthelred II (c. 858–62). Even this small group, however, 
establishes occupation after 664.

That the later medieval parish church of Bradwell on Sea is located 
3km inland from Ythancæstir suggests that, when it came to establishing 
the network of parochial churches across Essex, the old site within the 
remote ruins of Othona was no longer regarded as fit for purpose. The 
earliest surviving fabric in the parish church is fourteenth-century, 
although a church at Bradwell with its chapel of ease [at Othona] is 
referred to in the mid-thirteenth century.99 Kevin Bruce has suggested 
that a possible context for the construction of the new parish church was 
the period when the lord of the manor, John de la Mare, was investing in 
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other aspects of the landscape, including obtaining a licence for a new 
deer park,100 establishing a weekly market and annual fair (granted in 
1283) and possibly building ‘New Hall’ (distinct from the existing farms 
at Bradwell Hall, East Hall, Hockley and Down Hall).101

Anglo-Saxon settlement?

There has been much debate over the nature and scale of Anglo-Saxon 
immigration into south-east England, with suggestions varying between 
mass folk migration and almost complete displacement of the Romano-
British population through to the hypothesis that it amounted to little more 
than an elite takeover by a small group of warriors with their immediate 
families and retinues. Recent detailed analysis of the distribution of 
settlements that are most obviously associated with immigrant communities 
(that is, those containing Grubenhäuser), as well as of cemeteries in the 
Anglo-Saxon tradition (that is, cremations, and burials with Germanic 
grave goods), shows that they were not evenly distributed across the 
landscape.102 Within the East Saxon kingdom, for example, the vast 
majority of Anglo-Saxon settlements and cemeteries are found in coastal 
and estuarine districts, with particular concentrations on the gravel 
terraces overlooking the Thames and Blackwater/Chelmer estuaries.103

It is striking, therefore, that the only evidence for fifth- to sixth-
century Anglo-Saxon settlement within the putative regio of Deningei 
(beyond the immediate hinterland of the Roman settlement at Heybridge) 
is from the light, sandy soils in the far east of the peninsula. The Oxley 
Parker Collection of artefacts from excavations at Othona in 1865 includes 
a range of material whose character suggests a fifth- to sixth-century pagan 
cemetery. This includes at least two cruciform brooches and an S-shaped 
brooch, which are illustrated, as well as two buckles – at least one of which 
was D-shaped – and an iron socketed spearhead that are said to be Saxon, 
while fragments of a copper alloy handle made of twisted wire cannot be 
closely dated.104 ‘Tags to a girdle (Saxon)’ referred to in a list of the finds are 
likely to be fifth- to sixth-century.105 Oxley Parker apparently found many 
east–west-oriented skeletons, and while these were ‘especially around the 
chapel’,106 it is possible that some are early Anglo-Saxon and were the 
source of these probable grave goods. It is curious that the early general 
overviews of Anglo-Saxon archaeology in Essex (for example, Smith 1903; 
Jones 1980) overlooked these important finds, as they conform to the well-
known pattern of early Anglo-Saxon immigrants having been attracted to 
the extramural areas of major Roman sites seen so clearly at places such as 
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Caistor St Edmund and Colchester.107 It is also striking how all four pieces 
of fifth- to sixth-century metalwork reported to the PAS more recently  
are from the far east of the Dengie Peninsula: a small-long brooch and 
button brooch from Tillingham (PAS ESS-D1E6A7 and ES-830F62), a 
saucer brooch from ‘the Bradwell-on-Sea area’ (PAS ESS-D02382) and  
a gold bead from St Lawrence (ESS-01B025). Laver found fragments of  
an urn within the Iron Age hill fort at Asheldham that he thought 
‘correspond very closely with the class of pottery usual in this district of 
Saxon date’, but there was no reference to decoration or form and so the 
identification must be regarded as uncertain.108

In part, the absence of evidence for fifth- to sixth-century Anglo-
Saxon Grubenhäuser across the central Dengie Peninsula, the Danbury 
Hills and the Sandon Valley is because these other areas have seen 
relatively little archaeological survey and excavation, the only major 
project being the construction of the new A130 through the Sandon 
Valley. This revealed what was suggested as a single ‘possible’ Grubenhaus 
at Downhouse Farm in West Hanningfield, but no further details are 
published.109 Sherds of ‘Saxon’ pottery were also recovered at several of 
the sites, although this was usually found within the upper fills of late 
Roman features.110 ‘Saxon’ pottery was also recovered through field-
walking at various other sites, but no features datable to this period were 
found during the subsequent excavations.111

These ‘Saxon’ sherds, from simple, hand-made, globular, undecorated 
vessels with simple everted rims, are of a type that have been identified on 
a growing number of sites across Essex, including Asheldham Church and 
more recently in a ditch at the nearby Dengie Crops Ltd site in Asheldham.112 
The ethnic tag these sherds have been given may, however, be misleading. 
These sherds are from simple, handmade, globular, undecorated ‘simple 
pots’ that lack distinctive Anglo-Saxon features such as biconical and 
carinated forms, decoration such as incised lines and stamped motifs, and 
the application of a gritty slip known as Schlickung. In contrast, the 
universal characteristic of these ‘simple pots’ is that they would have been 
easy to make, which probably accounts for them being so similar to vessels 
made during the Iron Age, with the simple globular forms being exactly 
what we would have expected if farming communities – and unskilled 
potters – had to make their own vessels. As such we should stop describing 
these vessels as ‘Saxon’, regard them instead as ‘early medieval’ and have 
an open mind as to whether they were produced and used by native British 
or immigrant Anglo-Saxon communities.
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Conclusions

Cedd’s church at Ythancæstir was one of the most remote locations in 
the East Saxon kingdom. This windswept place was chosen because the 
ruins of the Roman fort at Othona provided a link with Romanitas, a 
very common factor in determining where early churches were located. 
We know that Ythancæstir lay within the regio of Deningei, and it is 
suggested that this covered around 340km2, being bounded by the River 
Chelmer and the Blackwater Estuary (the Pant) to the north, the North 
Sea to the east, the Crouch Estuary to the south and the high ground 
south of the Chelmsford hills to the west. This appears to have been the 
territory of a community known as the Dænningas, whose name is 
commemorated in the parish and hundred of Dengie, and the parish and 
forest of Danbury.

We would expect a regio of this type to have had a royal vill, a 
communal meeting place and a minster church, and while the former 
cannot be located with certainty there are two possibilities. It may have 
lain close to the later hundredal centre (also unlocated, though probably 
in Dengie parish) and church at Ythancæstir, or at Maldon (which may 
have been a royal vill from at least the eighth century). We must remember 
that the charter purporting to record King Æthelbert of Kent giving 
Tillingham to Mellitus in 604x616 is clearly a forgery, but the fact that it 
named Tillingham may reflect a folk memory that this was the most 
important place in the area whenever the charter was actually written 
(perhaps in the late seventh century). The clearly genuine charter in 
which King Swæfred granted 70 cassati in the regio called Deningei to 
Ingwald, bishop of London, in the early eighth century dates, in contrast, 
to during the period when the early folk territories were starting to 
fragment. As such, it comes at a time when the East Saxon kings may well 
have been disposing of some of their property, particularly in more remote 
locations. Indeed, this may have been the context for the growth of 
Maldon as a small port by the sheltered waters at the head of the 
Blackwater Estuary, in a far more central location within the East Saxon 
kingdom. If this hypothesis is right, then during the seventh century the 
regio called Deningei may have had a royal vill at Tillingham, a church at 
Ythancæstir and a communal meeting place at Dengie. It seems highly 
likely that some form of occupation continued at Ythancæstir into the 
eighth and possibly the ninth centuries, by which time it was part of an 
estate belonging to the church of St Paul’s in London.
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receives alias(? duas) partes of all tithes from the demesne which was of Roger de Hakeny to 
an estimate of 40s. (Kevin Bruce personal communication).

100	 Cal. Pat. 1292–1301, 145; Cantor 1983, 29.
101	 Cal. Pat. 1257–1300, 265; Letter 2013; Howson 2014, 67.
102	 Rippon 2018a.
103	 For the Thames, examples include Mucking (Hamerow 1993; Hirst and Clark 2009), North 

Shoebury (Wymer and Brown 1995) and Orsett Cock (Carter 1998).
	 For the Blackwater/Chelmer, examples are Heybridge (Drury and Wickenden 1982) and 

Springfield Lyons (Tyler and Major 2005).
104	 COLEM:1905.1009.15–16; COLEM:1947.328 photographs; Borough of Colchester 1947/48, 

28, Plate IX, nos 1–3.
105	 Anon. 1878.
106	 Hull 1963, 54.
107	 Myres and Green 1973; Crummy 1981.

https://emc.fitzmuseum.cam.ac.uk/
https://finds.org.uk
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108	 Laver 1928, 181.
109	 Dale et al. 2005, 19.
110	 Shotgate Farm, Windmill Hill, Monument Borrow Pit: Dale et al. 2005.
111	 Shangri-La Culvert and Bonvilles Farm: Dale et al. 2005.
112	 For Asheldham Church see Drury and Rodwell 1978; Andrews and Smoothey 1990. For 

Dengie Crops Ltd see Hanson 2013.
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The Chapel of St Peter-on-the-Wall, built on the ruins of a Roman fort, dates from 

the mid-seventh century and is one of the oldest largely intact churches in England. It 

stands in splendid isolation on the shoreline at the mouth of the Blackwater Estuary in 

Essex, where the land meets and interpenetrates with the sea and the sky. This book 

brings together contributors from across the arts, humanities and social sciences to 

uncover the pre-modern contexts and modern resonances of this medieval building 

and its landscape setting.

The impetus for this collection was the recently published designs for a new nuclear 

power station at Bradwell on Sea, which, if built, would have a significant impact 

on the chapel and its landscape setting. St Peter-on-the-Wall highlights the multiple 

ways in which the chapel and landscape are historically and archaeologically 

significant, while also drawing attention to the modern importance of Bradwell as a 

place of Christian worship, of sanctuary and of cultural production. In analysing the 

significance of the chapel and surrounding landscape over more than a thousand 

years, this collection additionally contributes to wider debates about the relationship 

between space and place, and particularly the interfaces between both medieval and 

modern cultures and also heritage and the natural environment.
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on the political and cultural history of the medieval period and her first book, 
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the Royal Historical Society’s Whitfield Prize in 2020. 
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